
FILED 

Court of Appeals 

Division I 

State of Washington 

1011512024 4:21 PM 

Supreme Court No. ___ _ 
(COA No. 85701-1-1) 

THESUPREME COURT OF THESTATE OF 
WASHINGTON 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

V. 

NATHAN PETERS, 

Petitioner. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE 
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

BEYERL Y K. TSAI 
Attorney for the Petitioner 

WASHING TON APPELLATE PROJECT 
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 

Seattle, WA 98101 
(206) 587-2711

wapofficemail@washapp.org 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER ...................................... 1 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION .............................. 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW ......................... 1 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE ...................................... 3 

E. ARGUMENT .................................................................. 6 

1. To constitutionally punish a threat, it must be a "true 

threat" of violence, which requires a subjective mental 

state of at least recklessness . .......................................... 6 

2. This Court should grant review because the Court of 

Appeals decision affirming Mr. Peters' s conviction 

violates his First Amendment rights and conflicts with 

binding precedent. .......................................................... 9 

a. The crime of harassment implicates the First 

Amendment, and this Court's de nova review requires 

an independent examination . ...................................... 10 

b. The State failed to prove Mr. Peters subjectively 

understood Ms. Jejferson-Ayosa would perceive his 

communication as a threat . ........................................ 12 

3. This Court should also grant review to determine the 

constitutionality of Washington's harassment statute . ... 17 

a. The harassment statute is unconstitutional because it 

criminalizes threats based on a negligence standard, 

which is lower than the required recklessness standard . 

................................................................................... 18 

b. The Court of Appeals substituted its judgment for this 

Court's, and its conclusion conflicts with this Court's 

decisions interpreting the harassment statute . ............ 23 

1 



F. CONCLUSION .............................................................. 26 

11 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

United States Supreme Court Cases 

Brown v. Entm 't Merchants Ass 'n, 564 U.S. 786, 131 S. Ct. 

2729, 180 L. Ed. 2d 708 (2011) ............................................ 7 

Counterman v. Colorado, 600 U.S. 66, 143 S. Ct. 2106, 216 L. 

Ed. 2d 77 5 (2023) ......................................................... passim 

Elonis v. United States, 575 U.S. 723, 135 S. Ct. 2001, 192 L. 

Ed. 2d 1 (2015) .............................................................. 20, 22 

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 

(1970) .................................................................................. 10 

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 628, 61 L. Ed. 2d 

560 (1970) ..................................................................... 10, 11 

United States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 130 S. Ct. 1577, 176 L. 

Ed. 2d 435 (2010) ................................................................. 7 

United States v. X-Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. 64, 115 S. Ct. 

464, 130 L. Ed. 2d 372 (1994) ............................................. 20 

Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 

535 (2003) ............................................................................ 7 

Washington Supreme Court Cases 

In re Pers. Restraint of Hinton, 152 Wn.2d 853, 100 P.3d 801 

(2004) .................................................................................. 24 

State v. Berg, 181 Wn.2d 857, 337 P.3d 310 (2014) ................ 10 

State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) ........ 24, 25 

111 



State v. E.J.J., 183 Wn.2d 497, 354 P.3d 815 (2015) ........ 11, 13 

State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481,681 P.2d 227 (1984) ............... 23 

State v. J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472, 28 P.3d 720 (2001) ............ 20, 23 

State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004) ...... passim 

State v. Schafer, 169 Wn.2d 274,236 P.3d 858 (2010) .... 20, 21, 

22,23 

State v. TreyM., 186 Wn.2d 884,383 P.3d 474 (2016) .... passim 

State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn. 2d 1, 309 P.3d 318 (2013) ............. 11 

State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 26 P. 3d 890 (2001) ..... 11, 19 

Washington Court of Appeals Cases 

State v. D.R.C., 13 Wn. App. 2d 818, 467 P.3d 994 (2020) ..... 13 

State v. Kohonen, 192 Wn. App. 567,370 P.3d 16 (2016) ...... 13 

State v. Winborne, 4 Wn. App. 2d 147, 420 P.3d 707 (2018) .. 23 

Constitutional Provisions 

Const. art. I, § 3 ...................................................................... 10 

Const. art. I, § 5 ....................................................................... 6 

U.S. Const. amend. I ................................................................ 6 

U.S. Const. amend. XIV ..................................................... 6, 10 

Statutes 

RCW 9A.46.020 ............................................................... 19, 22 

lV 



Legislative Materials 

Laws of 1985, ch. 288 ....................................................... l 9, 23 

Laws of 2011, ch. 64 ............................................................... 24 

Rules 

RAP 13.4 .......................................................................... 17, 25 

V 



A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Nathan Peters asks this Court to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Peters appealed his conviction for felony harassment. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed. State v. Peters, No. 85701-1-I, 

2024 WL 4223694 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 16, 2024). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Due process requires the State to prove every element 

of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. And before it can 

punish a person for their speech, the State must prove the 

person issued a "true threat" under the First Amendment. Under 

Counterman v. Colorado, 1 a "true threat" requires at least 

recklessness, meaning the person subjectively knew of and 

consciously disregarded a substantial risk that the other person 

would view their communications as threatening violence. 

1 600 U.S. 66, 143 S. Ct. 2106, 216 L. Ed. 2d 775 (2023). 

1 



Here, the State failed to prove Mr. Peters issued a "true threat" 

because it presented no evidence that Mr. Peters had this 

subjective mental state. Because the Court of Appeals decision 

affirming Mr. Peters' s conviction conflicts with precedent and 

violates his First Amendment rights, this Court should accept 

review. RAP 13.4(b). 

2. The First Amendment protects freedom of expression. 

One category of unprotected speech is a "true threat" of 

violence, which requires a subjective standard of at least 

recklessness. Because Washington's harassment statute 

criminalizes threats using a lower, objective standard of 

negligence, it is unconstitutional. The Court of Appeals 

decision reinterpreting the statute conflicts with this Court's 

holding and is an important constitutional question of broad 

import. This Court should accept review. 2 RAP 13 .4(b ). 

2 The constitutionality of Washington's harassment 
statute has been raised in at least one other petition currently 
pending before this Court: Petition for Review, State v. 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

After over five years of living together and raising two 

young children, Mr. Peters and Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa broke up. 

RP3 412-15. They had a good relationship for many years and 

tried to make things work, but they struggled with 

communication. RP 256, 415. After they broke up, they 

continued to live together and raise their children together while 

Mr. Peters looked for another place to live. RP 257. 

Because of their separation, Mr. Peters and Ms. 

Jefferson-Ayosa discussed getting separate phone plans and 

ending their family plan. RP 430. Mr. Peters took Ms. 

Jefferson-Ayosa off their streaming services. RP 258, 430. 

One day, Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa went out and bought a 

new phone with a new phone number and a separate plan. RP 

Calloway, No. 103374-5 (Wash. Aug. 15, 2024). That petition 
is scheduled for the December 3, 2024 Department calendar. 

3 The transcripts in this case were prepared by three 
different court reporters. This brief cites to the consecutively 
paginated, three volume transcripts filed by Laura Parker, 
totaling 584 pages. 
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259. When she retl.illled home, Mr. Peters asked why she did 

not keep her prior phone number. RP 418. She told him, "I 

don't need to explain to you where I purchased my phone." RP 

260. She accused him of living in her house for free. RP 421. 

Mr. Peters pointed out he paid for their utilities and he was only 

living there until he found another place to live. RP 421. 

While Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa went into the bathroom to 

prepare for a bath, Mr. Peters began to organize the children's 

laundry and went downstairs to give them something to eat. RP 

262, 418-19. He came back upstairs to change into warm 

clothes and put on his shoes to go for a walk. RP 268, 419-20. 

He wanted to give Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa some "space." RP 474. 

He planned for a short walk so he could be home to put the 

children to bed. RP 420. 

The area they lived in was dangerous. RP 474-75. A 

cougar had been spotted just days before, and there were known 

drug houses nearby. RP 287, 389, 445. It was also dark outside, 
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and the surrounding area was heavily wooded. RP 474-75. Mr. 

Peters grabbed his gun to protect himself on his walk. RP 423. 

As Mr. Peters was preparing to go downstairs and leave 

for his walk, Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa came out of the bathroom to 

confront him again. RP 266, 269. He was walking down the 

hallway with his back to her, but she saw he had changed into 

warm clothes and shoes. RP 268-69, 422. She could not see 

what was in his hands, and she walked behind him while 

repeatedly asking what he was holding. RP 269-70, 422. 

Mr. Peters wanted to be prepared in case he encountered 

something dangerous on his walk, so he cocked the gun to load 

the chamber. RP 423-24. He then put the gun in his pants and 

started to go downstairs to leave for his walk. RP 424. 

Mr. Peters testified he did not say anything or turn 

towards Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa, who was standing behind him in 

the hallway. RP 423-24, 450. But Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa testified 

that, after she asked Mr. Peters multiple times ifhe was holding 

his gun, he turned partway so his side was to her, cocked the 
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gun, and said, "so what if it is." RP 270. Both parties testified 

Mr. Peters never turned to face Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa and he 

never pointed the gun at her. RP 296, 423-24. 

Mr. Peters heard Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa go downstairs. RP 

424. He stated he was going for a walk. RP 424, 468. He began 

to leave and saw Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa leave the house first. RP 

424, 468. Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa did not recall hearing Mr. Peters 

say anything after she went down the stairs, but she got the 

children, left the house, and called the police. RP 27 4-75. 

The State charged Mr. Peters with felony harassment, 

and a jury found him guilty. CP 54. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed the conviction. App. at 1. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. To constitutionally punish a threat, it must be a "true 

threat" of violence, which requires a subjective 

mental state of at least recklessness. 

The state and federal constitutions protect the freedom of 

expression. U.S. Const. amends. I, XIV; Const. art. I, § 5. In 

general, the govermnent has no power to restrict or punish 
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expression because of its message, ideas, subject matter, or 

content. Brown v. Entm 't Merchants Ass 'n, 564 U.S. 786, 790, 

131 S. Ct. 2729, 180 L. Ed. 2d 708 (2011 ). Only in a limited 

number of categories can the govermnent punish speech. United 

States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 468, 130 S. Ct. 1577, 176 L. 

Ed. 2d 435 (2010). 

One category of unprotected communication is "true 

threats" of violence. Counterman v. Colorado, 600 U.S. 66, 74, 

143 S. Ct. 2106, 216 L. Ed. 2d 775 (2023). "True threats are 

'serious expression[ s ]' conveying that a speaker means to 

'commit an act of unlawful violence."' Id. ( quoting Virginia v. 

Black, 538 U.S. 343, 359, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 

(2003)). Consequently, jests and hyperbole do not qualify even 

where the speech is literally threatening. Id. 

The United States Supreme Court determined that a 

speaker's subjective intent is critical in determining whether 

speech constitutes a true threat. Id. at 69. In order for the State 

to punish speech as a "true threat," "[t]he State must show that 
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the defendant consciously disregarded a substantial risk that his 

communications would be viewed as threatening violence." Id. 

This is a subjective mental state of at least recklessness. 

Id. "A person acts recklessly . . .  when he consciously 

disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the conduct 

will cause harm to another." Id. at 79 (cleaned up).4 "In the 

threats context, it means that a speaker is aware that others 

could regard his statements as threatening violence and delivers 

them anyway." Id. (cleaned up, emphasis added). It is different 

from a purely objective "reasonable person" standard, which is 

a negligence standard based on whether a reasonable person 

should be aware of the requisite risk. Id. at 79 n.5. 5 

4 Cf. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(c) ("A person is reckless or acts 
recklessly when he or she knows of and disregards a substantial 
risk that a wrongful act may occur and his or her disregard of 

such substantial risk is a gross deviation from conduct that a 
reasonable person would exercise in the same situation."). 

5 Cf. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(d) ("A person is criminally 
negligent or acts with criminal negligence when he or she fails 
to be aware of a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur 
and his or her failure to be aware of such substantial risk 
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The Court rejected an objective standard because it 

would not guard against the "chilling effect" that imposing 

liability for threatening speech has on protected speech. Id. at 

75. An "objective standard" for "true-threats prosecutions" 

would "chill too much protected, non-threatening expression." 

Id. at 78. Therefore, the Court held that "an important tool . . .  

to stop people from steering wide of the unlawful zone-is to 

condition liability on the State's showing of a culpable mental 

state." Id. at 75 (cleaned up). Accordingly, the Court concluded 

a subjective standard of recklessness "offers enough breathing 

space" for protected expression. Id. at 82 ( citations omitted). 

2. This Court should grant review because the Court of 

Appeals decision affirming Mr. Peters's conviction 

violates his First Amendment rights and conflicts with 

binding precedent. 

The crime of harassment requires the person to have 

issued a "true threat, " which requires the State to prove the 

person acted recklessly. Counterman, 600 U.S. at 69; see supra, 

constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that a 
reasonable person would exercise in the same situation."). 
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Section E. l .  In this case, the State failed to prove that Mr. 

Peters subjectively understood Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa would 

interpret his communication as a true threat of violence. The 

Court of Appeals decision affirming his conviction fails the 

constitutional mandate announced in Counterman and requires 

this Court's review. 

a. The crime of harassment implicates the First 

Amendment, and this Court 's de novo review requires 

an independent examination. 

The State bears the burden to prove every element of the 

offense beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 

358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). A conviction 

based on anything less violates due process. Jackson v. 

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307,316, 99 S. Ct. 628, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 

(1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. 

This Court reviews de novo whether sufficient evidence 

supports the conviction. State v. Berg, 181 Wn.2d 857, 867, 337 

P.3d 310 (2014). This Court will affirm a conviction only if, 

"after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 
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prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." 

Jackson, 443 U.S. at 318; State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn. 2d 1, 6, 

309 P.3d 318 (2013). 

And because the crime of harassment implicates the First 

Amendment, this Court must examine the record "with the 

commands of the First Amendment clearly in mind." State v. 

Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 206-07, 26 P.3d 890 (2001). "The 

First Amendment demands more" than the usual review of the 

record on appeal. State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 49, 84 P.3d 

1215 (2004). Therefore, this Court conducts an "independent 

examination of the whole record" in a First Amendment case 

"so as to assure ourselves that the judgment does not constitute 

a forbidden intrusion on the field of free expression." Id. at 50 

(citations omitted); see also State v. E.J.J., 183 Wn.2d 497, 

501,354 P.3d 815 (2015). 
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b. The State failed to prove Mr. Peters subjectively 

understood Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa would perceive his 

communication as a threat. 

To convict Mr. Peters of harassment, the State had to 

prove he issued a "true threat," which requires proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Mr. Peters acted recklessly. See 

Counterman, 600 U.S. at 69. Recklessness requires evidence 

that Mr. Peters subjectively knew of and consciously 

disregarded a substantial risk that Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa would 

interpret his communication to be a true threat. Id. at 79. 

The State failed to prove Mr. Peters was subjectively 

reckless. What happened that night was mostly undisputed. Ms. 

Jefferson-Ayosa and Mr. Peters had a tense conversation in the 

upstairs hallway about dividing their expenses. Then, Ms. 

Jefferson-Ayosa went into the bathroom to tweeze her 

eyebrows, and Mr. Peters went downstairs to give the kids a 

snack. Next, Mr. Peters came back upstairs, changed into warm 

clothes, and put his shoes on to go for a walk. He had his gun 
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and he loaded the chamber before leaving. He never pointed the 

gun at her or even faced her with it. 

Even assuming Mr. Peters said, "so what if it is," in 

response to Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa repeatedly asking, "is that 

your gun," this statement is a not a true threat of violence. RP 

271, 422. Rather, this was an annoyed retort to Ms. Jefferson­

Ayosa's repeated questions and what he felt was her 

urmecessary "attitude" in response to "a simple question." RP 

266, 420. Indeed, he was walking down the hallway away from 

her when she stepped out of the bathroom to follow him and 

repeatedly ask him what he was holding. RP 270-71, 421-22. 

But even "disrespectful, discourteous, and annoying" words 

"are nonetheless constitutionally protected." E.J.J., 183 Wn.2d 

at 501. This was not a true threat. See State v. D.R. C., 13 Wn. 

App. 2d 818, 825, 467 P.3d 994 (2020) (a true threat is "not an 

idle statement . . .  or even a 'hyperbolic expression[] of 

frustration"') ( quoting State v. Kohonen, 192 Wn. App. 567, 

583, 370 P.3d 16 (2016)). 
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Nor did cocking the gun make it a threat of violence. 

Whether a person's words or conduct constitutes a true threat 

"is determined in light of the entire context." Kilburn, 151 

Wn.2d at 46. In Kilburn, the defendant told a classmate, "I'm 

going to bring a gun to school tomorrow and shoot everyone 

and start with you." Id. at 39. But the defendant had always 

been nice to this classmate, they had known each other for 

years, and he appeared to be joking. Id. at 52-53. Even though 

the statement was serious and the classmate was scared, this 

Court reversed, concluding under the context it was not a true 

threat. Id. at 53.6 

Likewise, the context here does not demonstrate Mr. 

Peters' s communication was a "true threat." Mr. Peters and Ms. 

Jefferson-Ayosa had a good relationship for many years, with 

no history of any violence. RP 256. Even though they were 

6 This Court concluded this was not a true threat under 
the objective standard of negligence. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d at 53. 
It certainly would not satisfy Counterman's higher subjective 
standard of recklessness. 
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bickering about finances that night, Mr. Peters was cahn. RP 

432. He was walking around the house taking care of the 

children. RP 418. He was not yelling, gesturing, or aggressively 

approaching Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa. Even if he loudly closed a 

door or stormed up the stairs, this was reflective of his annoyed 

exasperation. RP 265. 

Mr. Peters's statement did not constitute a "true threat," 

nor did his actions make his inconsequential statement a "true 

threat." Cf Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d at 53 (despite the seriously 

threatening implications of saying he would bring a gun to 

school and shoot everyone, the context did not demonstrate this 

was a true threat). Mr. Peters did not say he was going to kill or 

hurt Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa. He did not chase her or follow her 

out of the house. RP 276, 424. He never pointed the gun at her. 

RP 296, 423-24. In fact, he never even turned to face her. RP 

423-24, 270. It was only after Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa followed 

him down the hallway, peppering him with questions as he was 

trying to leave, did he react and make an annoyed retort. 
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The Court of Appeals acknowledged the evidence was 

largely uncontroverted. App. at 15-23. It acknowledged their 

relationship lasted over five years and was "good." App. at 15. 

It also noted their children were home that night, and their 

bickering was interrupted by Mr. Peters taking care of the 

children. App. at 17. 

Noting Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa said it was "unusual" for 

Mr. Peters to carry his gun, the Court of Appeals concluded this 

was enough to make his communications a "true threat" of 

violence. App. at 23-24. In doing so, the Court of Appeals 

ignored the context of their years-long relationship and 

effectively applied an objective standard, which fails the 

constitutional, subjective standard announced in Counterman. 

The Court of Appeals also ignored this Court's decision in 

Kilburn where, even under the prior negligence standard, the 

context of the relationship was critical to determine whether the 

statements were a true threat. In Ms. J efferson-Ayosa' s own 
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words, because she knew Mr. Peters was not a violent person, 

she thought, "he wouldn't do that." RP 265. 

Context is everything. It is what makes something a "true 

threat" in one situation but not another. While the facts in this 

case may constitute a "true threat" in a different context with 

different people, that is not the case for Mr. Peters and Ms. 

Jefferson-Ayosa. 

The State did not prove Mr. Peters issued a true threat. 

The Court of Appeals decision affirming the conviction for 

harassment conflicts with precedent and violates Mr. Peters's 

First Amendment rights. This Court should grant review. RAP 

13 .4(b )(1 ), (3). 

3. This Court should also grant review to determine the 

constitutionality of Washington's harassment statute. 

"To avoid unconstitutional infringement of protected 

speech, [ the harassment statute] must be read as clearly 

prohibiting only 'true threats."' Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d at 43 

( quoting Williams, 144 Wn.2d at 208). A "true threat" requires 
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at least a recklessness standard. Counterman, 600 U.S. at 69. 

But the Washington harassment statute criminalizes a threat 

using a lower standard of negligence. State v. Trey M., 186 

Wn.2d 884, 907, 383 P.3d 474 (2016). This Court should grant 

review to determine the constitutionality of the statute. 

a. The harassment statute is unconstitutional because it 

criminalizes threats based on a negligence standard, 

which is lower than the required recklessness 

standard. 

Washington's harassment statute criminalizes threats of 

violence. The first section of the statute reads: 

(1) A person is guilty of harassment if: 

(a) Without lawful authority, the person knowingly 

threatens: 

(i) To cause bodily injury immediately or in the future to 

the person threatened or to any other person; or 

(ii) To cause physical damage to the property of a person 

other than the actor; or 

(iii) To subject the person threatened or any other person 

to physical confinement or restraint; or 

(iv) Maliciously to do any other act which is intended to 

substantially harm the person threatened or another with 

respect to his or her physical or mental health or safety; 

and 
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(b) The person by words or conduct places the person 

threatened in reasonable fear that the threat will be 

carried out. "Words or conduct" includes, in addition to 

any other form of communication or conduct, the sending 

of an electronic communication. 

RCW 9A.46.020(1). The second section makes some acts of 

"harassment" a felony. RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). This includes 

threats to kill. RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b )(ii). 

"On its face this statute criminalizes a form of pure 

speech: threats." Williams, 144 Wn.2d at 206. Consequently, 

the statute implicates the constitutional guarantee of freedom of 

speech. 

Since its enactment, the statute has required proof that 

"the person knowingly threatens." RCW 9A.46.020(l )(a); Laws 

of 1985, ch. 288, § 2. But this Court has narrowly interpreted 

this statutory language to merely require proof that the speaker 

is aware that they are communicating a threat, as opposed to 

awareness of the communication's threatening nature. Trey M., 

186 Wn.2d at 895; Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d at 48; see Counterman, 

600 U.S. at 74 n.3 (clarifying "difference between awareness of 
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a communication's contents and awareness of its threatening 

nature") (emphasis added). This is despite the fact that '"the 

crucial element separating legal innocence from wrongful 

conduct' is the threatening nature of the communication." 

Elonis v. United States, 575 U.S. 723, 737, 135 S. Ct. 2001, 192 

L. Ed. 2d 1 (2015) ( quoting United States v. X-Citement Video, 

Inc., 513 U.S. 64, 73, 115 S. Ct. 464, 130 L. Ed. 2d 372 

(1994)). 

Additionally, this Court has refused to read the 

knowledge mental element in subsection (1 )(a) as extending to 

subsection (1 )(b ), which concerns the result of the speech: 

RCW 9A.46.020(1 ), indicates the "knowingly" 

requirement applies to only subsection ( l)(a), 

identifying threats within the statute's purview, 

and does not apply to subsection ( l)(b), setting 

forth the requirement that the defendant's words or 

conduct places the person threatened in reasonable 

fear, since "knowingly" appears in the first section, 

but not in the second. 

State v. J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472,484, 28 P.3d 720 (2001); accord 

State v. Schafer, 169 Wn.2d 274, 286, 236 P.3d 858 (2010) 
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("the statute uses the term 'knowingly threaten [ ]' in 

subsection ( 1 )(a) but includes no mens rea term in the separate 

subsection listing the result requirement, ( 1 )(b). "). 

Consequently, the statute does not require any knowledge 

by the speaker that their communication would be understood 

by the listener or receiver as a threat. Trey M., 186 Wn.2d at 

898. This Court has refused to read any subjective knowledge 

requirement into the statute on this point. Id. at 902-04; cf 

Counterman, 600 U.S. at 79 (recounting that a knowledge 

requirement, i.e., awareness that result is practically certain to 

follow, for a true threat would require that the defendant 

"knows to a practical certainty that others will take his words as 

threats."). 

Instead, this Court has held the statute requires "the 

defendant to have some mens rea as to the result of the hearer's 

fear: simple negligence." Schafer, 169 Wn.2d at 287. "[T]he 

State must prove that a reasonable person in the defendant's 

position would foresee that a listener would interpret the threat 
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as serious." Id. at 289 n.6; Trey M, 186 Wn.2d at 907 (adhering 

to "Washington's objective (reasonable person) test" and its 

interpretation of the harassment statute). 7 

The result of these decisions interpreting the harassment 

statute is that the statute is plainly unconstitutional under the 

First Amendment, which requires at least recklessness as to the 

listener's fear. Counterman, 600 U.S. at 78-79 & n.5. An 

unconstitutional negligence standard hinges criminal liability 

based on what a reasonable person would think is a threat, not 

on what the specific defendant subjectively thinks. Id. at 79 n.5; 

see also Elonis, 575 U.S. at 739 (reasoning that a "negligence 

standard" is one that permits a person to be convicted "ifhe 

7 This Court asserted that the mental element of 
"knowingly threaten[ ed] " was equivalent to the "mental state 
acknowledged in Elonis as sufficient." Trey M, 186 Wn.2d at 
899. This is incorrect. If the "knowingly threaten[ ed] " element 
in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a) actually required proof that the 
defendant had "'knowledge that the communication will be 
viewed as a threat, "' id. at 899 (quoting Elonis, 575 U.S. at 
740), then the test for a "threat" in harassment cases would be a 
subjective knowledge test, not an objective reasonable person 
test that this Court in Trey M adhered to. 
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himself knew the contents and context of his posts, and a 

reasonable person would have recognized that the posts would 

be read as genuine threats."). This standard is unconstitutional. 

b. The Court of Appeals substituted its judgment for this 

Court 's, and its conclusion conflicts with this Court 's 

decisions interpreting the harassment statute. 

The Court of Appeals is bound to follow this Court's 

interpretation of the statute. State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 

681 P.2d 227 (1984); State v. Winborne, 4 Wn. App. 2d 147, 

175, 420 P.3d 707 (2018). 

Here, the relevant statutory language was enacted nearly 

four decades ago. Laws of 1985, ch. 288, § 2. This Court has 

repeatedly interpreted this language to adopt a negligence 

standard. Trey M., 186 Wn.2d at 906-08; Schafer, 169 Wn.2d at 

286; J.M., 144 Wn.2d at 484. It adhered to this "settled 

precedent" over a dissent forewarning the Court that this was 

unconstitutional. Trey M., 186 Wn.2d at 908; Trey M., 186 

Wn.2d 918-20 (Gordon McCloud, J., dissenting). 
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When this Court construes a statute, it determines what 

the statute has meant since its enactment. In re Pers. Restraint 

of Hinton, 152 Wn.2d 853,860 & n.2, 100 P.3d 801 (2004). 

The legislature has not amended the statute to reject the 

negligence standard. This is despite several amendments to the 

statute, including as recently as 2011. Laws of 2011, ch. 64, 

§ 1. Given this history of legislative acquiescence, the statute 

cannot now be reinterpreted to avoid the constitutional problem. 

State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 192,195,481 P.3d 521 (2021). 

Notwithstanding this precedent and history, the Court of 

Appeals reinterpreted the harassment statute to comply with the 

recklessness standard articulated in Counterman. App. at 10. In 

reaching its conclusion, the Court of Appeals relied on 

numerous pre-Counterman decisions, which all applied the 

negligence standard, even though it acknowledged those cases 

are no longer good law post-Counterman. App. at 9 ( citing 

Schafer, Kilburn, Williams, and Trey M. ), 10 n.2 (noting 

Counterman abrogates this Court's numerous decisions 
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criminalizing a "true threat" under the negligence standard). In 

doing so, the Court of Appeals substituted its own conclusion 

for this Court's. 

In addition, the statutory meaning of "threat" in the 

harassment statute does not change any time a court reinterprets 

the "true threats" exception to the First Amendment. Because 

this Court has clearly and repeatedly held the harassment statute 

only requires negligence, the statute is plainly unconstitutional. 

See Blake, 197 Wn.2d at 188-92. 

The constitutionality of the harassment statute is a 

significant constitutional question meriting review. RAP 

13.4(b)(3). The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this 

Court's rulings. RAP 13.4(b)( l ). And given the many 

prosecutions and convictions for harassment, review is 

warranted as matter of public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 
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F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the preceding, Mr. Peters respectfully requests 

that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b ). 

This brief is in 14-point Times New Roman, contains 
4,331 words, and complies with RAP 18.17. 

Respectfully submitted this 15th day of October 2024. 

BEYERL Y K. TSAI (WSBA 56426) 
Washington Appellate Project (91052) 
Attorneys for the Petitioner 
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No .  8570 1 - 1 - 1  

U N PU BL ISHED O P I N ION 

DWYER, J .  - Nathan Peters appeals from the j udgment entered on a 

j u ry's verd ict convicti ng h im  of one count of fe lony harassment. Peters asserts 

that the harassment statute under which he was convicted is unconstitutiona l .  

Peters also asserts that t he  j u ry was not presented with sufficient evidence to 

fi nd that h is words and conduct toward Tabitha Jefferson-Ayosa constituted a 

"true th reat" as that term was clarified by the U n ited States Supreme Court i n  

Counterman v .  Colorado ,  600  U .S .  66 , 72-83 ,  1 43 S .  Ct. 2 1 06 ,  2 1 6  L .  Ed . 2d  775 

(2023) . Because Peters fa i ls  to estab l ish man ifest error as to the constitut ional ity 

of the harassment statute , both facia l ly and as app l ied to h im ,  and because the 

record conta ins ample evidence to support that he knew of and d isregarded a 

substant ia l  r isk that h is  act ions i n  th is matter wou ld be i nterpreted as a serious 

express ion of an i ntention to carry out a th reat to ki l l  Jefferson-Ayosa , Peters' 

assert ions fa i l .  Accord i ng ly ,  we affi rm . 



No. 85701 -1 -1/2 

In March 2023, an affidavit of probable cause submitted by a police officer 

from the Lummi Nation Police Department stated ,  in pertinent part, as follows: 

On 03/25/2023 at about 2049 hours, I was dispatched to a 
brandishing of a handgun at [an address in Smokehouse Road in 
Bell ingham, WA] .  It was dispatched [that] Tabitha Jefferson-Ayosa 
and Nathan Peters got into a verbal altercation and [that] Nathan 
pulled out a handgun during the argument. It was dispatched [that] 
Tabitha fled the residence with their two children en route to her 
mother's residence. I proceeded there and contacted Tabitha. 

Tabitha stated she lives with Nathan Peters, they are breaking up 
from a dating relationship, and they share a child in common[.] 
Tabitha said she recently got a new phone line since Nathan had 
been bothering her by threatening to cut her off from the data plans 
they currently have together. Tabitha said the argument continued 
with Nathan and he slammed a door a couple times. Tabitha said 
she heard Nathan digging around by their safe and then was 
pacing back and forth around the hallway, outside the bathroom 
door. Tabitha said the verbal argument picked up again before 
Nathan sighed and turned around, walking towards the bedroom. 
She said she saw something in his hands, behind his back. 
Tabitha said she asked him several times verbally "is that your 
fucking gun?" before Nathan replied something to the extent of: so 
what if it is. Tabitha said she heard the gun "click", as if Nathan 
was loading a bul let into the chamber. She said he turned around 
with a black handgun in his left hand. Tabitha said Nathan is left­
handed and the gun was in his left hand. Tabitha motioned to 
ind icate the gun was pointed at the ground in front of Nathan. 
Tabitha said she immediately fe lt like she was in danger of being 
shot since the argument was heated and Nathan doesn't usually 
pull the gun out. Tabitha said she ran down the sta irs as fast as 
she could,  gathered her children hastily and left in her vehicle 
before calling her mother/91 1 .  Tabitha said she turned and ran so 
fast when she saw the gun that she didn't see if he pointed it at her 
as she was fleeing. She fe lt his actions were so strange that she 
was in immediate danger of being shot. 
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I n  J u ly 2023 , the State , by amended i nformation ,  charged Peters with one 

count of harassment by th reaten ing , th rough words or conduct ,  to ki l l  an i nt imate 

partner , Jefferson-Ayosa , a class C fe lony. 1 

A two-day j u ry tria l  resu lted . The State's theory of the case was that 

Peters' words and cond uct on the n ight i n  question , i n  the context of h is  

re lationsh ip with Jefferson-Ayosa , reflected that he knew of and d isregarded a 

substant ia l  r isk that she wou ld i nterpret h is  act ions as a ser ious express ion of an 

i ntent ion to carry out a th reat to ki l l  her .  For h is part ,  Peters' defense theory was 

that he d id not say any menacing words to her and that he had on ly retrieved h is 

fi rearm so that he cou ld safely go on a walk  i n  the i r  dangerous neighborhood i n  

order to  take a break from Jefferson-Ayosa argu ing with h im .  

I n  its case i n  ch ief, t he  State ca l led to  testify both Jefferson-Ayosa and  two 

po l ice officers who were d ispatched i n  response to her 9 1 1 cal l ,  presented the 

aud io of the 9 1 1 ca l l  to the j u ry ,  and provided the j u ry with photog raphs of the 

fi rearm i n  q uestion . Peters testified i n  his own defense .  

After the parties rested the i r  cases , the tria l  cou rt provided , i n  perti nent 

part ,  the fo l lowing instruct ions to the j u ry :  

I N STRUCTI ON NO. 5 

To convict the defendant of the crime of fe lony harassment as 
charged in count one ,  each of the fo l lowi ng elements of the crime 
must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt :  

( 1 ) That on or about March 25 ,  2023 ,  the defendant knowing ly 
th reatened to ki l l  Tab itha Jefferson-Ayosa immed iate ly or  i n  
t he  futu re ;  

1 RCW 9A.46 . 020( 1 ) ; . 020(2)(b)( i i ) .  
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(2) That the words or conduct of the defendant placed Tabitha 
Jefferson-Ayosa in reasonable fear that the threat to kil l 
would be carried out; 

(3) That the defendant acted without lawful authority; and 
(4) That the threat was made or received in the State of 

Washington. 
If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has 

been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to 
return a verdict of gui lty. 

On the other hand, if, after weighing al l  the evidence, you have 
a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be 
your duty to return a verdict of not gui lty. 

INSTRUCTION NO. 6 

Threat means to communicate, directly or indirectly, the 
intent to cause bodily injury in the future to the person threatened or 
to any other person.  

To be a threat, a statement or act must occur in a context or 
under such circumstances where a reasonable person,  in the 
position of the speaker would foresee that the statement or act 
would be interpreted as a serious expression of intention to carry 
out the threat rather than as something said in jest, idle talk, or 
political argument. In addition, the speaker must know of and 
disregard a substantial risk that the statement or act would be 
interpreted in that way. 

(Emphasis added .) 

Thereafter, the parties presented their closing arguments and the jury was 

excused to deliberate. 

The jury returned its verdict the fo llowing day, finding Peters gui lty of one 

count of fe lony harassment. Thereafter, the superior court entered judgment on 

the jury's verdict. 

Peters now appeals. 

I I  

Peters asserts that the harassment statute under which he  was convicted 

is unconstitutional under the First Amendment to the federal constitution. I n  so 

4 
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do ing , however, Peters does not specify whether he is asserti ng a facia l  

chal lenge or  an as-appl ied chal lenge to the constitut ional ity of that statute . 

Add it iona l ly ,  Peters d id not present the issue of the constitut ional ity of the 

harassment statute to the tria l  cou rt and is therefore presenting this issue for the 

fi rst t ime on appea l .  Because he has not demonstrated that h is c la im of 

constitutiona l  error meets the requ i rement of be ing a man ifest error ,  we decl ine 

to review the merits of  the cla im . RAP 2 . 5 (a)(3) . 

A 

We may " refuse to review any c la im of error which was not ra ised in  the 

tria l  cou rt . "  RAP 2 . 5(a) . However, a party may ra ise a man ifest error affect ing a 

constitutiona l  rig ht for the fi rst t ime on appea l .  RAP 2 . 5(a)(3) . Our  Supreme 

Court has exp la i ned the ana lytical p rocess cal led for i n  such a situation . 

It has long been the law i n  Wash i ngton that an "appe l late 
court may refuse to review any c la im of error which was not ra ised 
in the tria l  cou rt . "  RAP 2 . 5(a) ; State v .  Lyskoski , 47 Wn .2d 1 02 ,  
1 08 ,  287 P .2d 1 1 4 ( 1 955) . The underlyi ng po l icy of the ru le i s  to 
"encourag [e] the efficient use of jud ic ia l  resources . The appe l late 
courts wi l l  not sanct ion a party's fa i l u re to point out at tria l  an error 
which the tria l  cou rt ,  if g iven the opportun ity ,  m ight have been able 
to correct to avo id an appeal  and a consequent new tria l . "  State v .  
Scott , 1 1 0 Wn .2d 682 , 685 , 757 P .2d 492 ( 1 988) . The ru le comes 
from the pr inc ip le that tria l  counsel and the defendant are ob l igated 
to seek a remedy to errors as they occur ,  or shortly thereafter. See 
C ity of Seattle v. Harclaon ,  56  Wn .2d 596 , 597 , 354 P .2d 928 
( 1 960) . 

The genera l  ru le that an ass ignment of error be preserved 
includes an exception when the c la imed error is a "man ifest error 
affect ing a constitutional  rig ht . " RAP 2 . 5(a) . Th is exception 
encompasses develop ing case law wh i le ensuring on ly certa i n  
constitutiona l  questions can be  ra ised for t he  fi rst t ime on review. 
RAP 2 . 5  cmt. (a) at 86 Wn .2d 1 1 52 ( 1 976) . 

To meet RAP 2 . 5 (a) and ra ise an error for the fi rst t ime on 
appea l ,  an appel lant must demonstrate ( 1 ) the error is man ifest , 
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and (2) the error is tru ly of constitutiona l  d imension . State v .  
Ki rkman , 1 59 Wn .2d 9 1 8 ,  926 , 1 55 P . 3d 1 25 (2007) (citi ng State v .  
WWJ Corp . , 1 38 Wn .2d 595 , 602 , 980 P .2d 1 257 ( 1 999) ; Scott , 1 1 0 
Wn .2d at 688) . Stated another way, the appel lant must " identify a 
constitutiona l  error and show how the a l leged error actua l ly affected 
the [appe l lant] 's rig hts at tr ia l . "  � at 926-27 .  If a cou rt determ ines 
the c la im ra ises a man ifest constitutiona l  error, it may sti l l  be 
subject to a harmless error ana lys is .  State v .  McFarland , 1 27 
Wn .2d 322 , 333 , 899 P .2d 1 25 1  ( 1 995) ; State v. Lynn ,  67 Wn . App .  
339 ,  345 , 835  P .2d 251  ( 1 992) . 

I n  ana lyzi ng the asserted constitutiona l  interest , we do not 
assume the a l leged error is of constitutiona l  magn itude .  Scott , 1 1 0 
Wn .2d at 687 . We look to the asserted c la im and assess whether, 
if correct , it imp l icates a constitut ional  i nterest as compared to 
another form of tr ial error . See id . at 689-9 1 . I n  instances where 
the a l legation is that the defendant's d ue process rig hts were 
vio lated because he or she was den ied a fa i r  tr ia l ,  the court wi l l  look 
at the defendant's a l legation of a constitutional  v io lat ion , and the 
facts a l leged by the defendant, to determ i ne whether, if true ,  the 
defendant's constitutiona l  rig ht to a fa i r  tria l  has been v io lated . See 
id . (ho ld ing because noth i ng i n  the constitut ion requ i res the 
mean ing of particu lar terms i n  a j u ry instruct ion to be specifica l ly 
defi ned , the defendant's unp reserved c la im regard ing the j u ry 
instruct ions d id not constitute constitutiona l  error and , thus ,  was not 
properly preserved for appe l late review) . 

After determ in i ng the error is of constitutiona l  mag n itude ,  the 
appe l late court must determ ine whether the error was man ifest. 
'"Man ifest' in RAP 2 . 5(a)(3) requ i res a showi ng of actual p rej ud ice . "  
Ki rkman , 1 59 Wn .2d at 935 (citi ng State v. Walsh , 1 43 Wn .2d 1 ,  8 ,  
1 7  P . 3d 591  (200 1 ) ;  McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d at 333-34) . To 
demonstrate actual p rejud ice ,  there must be a " 'p laus ib le showing 
by the [appe l lant] that the asserted error had practical and 
identifiab le consequences i n  the tria l  of the case . "' Ki rkman , 1 59 
Wn .2d at 935 ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng WWJ 
Corp . , 1 38 Wn .2d at 603) . I n  determ in ing whether the error was 
identifiab le ,  the tr ial record must be sufficient to determ ine the 
merits of the cla im .  � at 935 (citi ng WWJ Corp . , 1 38 Wn .2d at 
602 ; McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d at 333 (citi ng State v. Ri ley. 1 2 1  Wn .2d 
22 , 3 1 , 846 P .2d 1 365 ( 1 993))) . " If the facts necessary to 
adjud icate the claimed error are not in the record on appea l ,  no 
actual  p rejud ice is shown and the error is not man ifest . "  � 

State v. O 'Hara ,  1 67 Wn .2d 9 1 , 97-99 , 2 1 7 P . 3d 756 (2009) . 
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With regard to a chal lenge to the constitut ional ity of a statute , we have 

exp la i ned that, 

[a] constitutiona l  chal lenge to a statute presents a question of law 
that th is cou rt . . .  reviews de nova . C ity of Bothe l l  v. Barnhart ,  1 72 
Wn .2d 223 ,  229 ,  257 P . 3d 648 (20 1 1 ) . A reviewing court presumes 
that a statute is constitutiona l , and the party chal leng ing it bears the 
bu rden of proving otherwise beyond a reasonable doubt .  Morrison 
v .  Dep't of Labor & I ndus . , 1 68 Wn . App .  269,  272 , 277 P . 3d 675 
(20 1 2) (citi ng State v .  Shu ltz , 1 38 Wn .2d 638,  642 , 980 P .2d 1 265 
( 1 999)) . A party may br ing a facia l  or  an as-appl ied cha l lenge .  C ity 
of Redmond v .  Moore ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d 664 , 668 ,  9 1  P . 3d 875 (2004) . 
To preva i l  i n  a facial cha l lenge,  a party must show that "no set of 
c i rcumstances exists i n  which the statute , as cu rrently written ,  can 
be constitutiona l ly app l ied . "  Moore ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 669 . By 
contrast, a party succeeds i n  an as-app l ied cha l lenge by proving 
that an otherwise va l id statute is unconstitutional  as app l ied to that 
party . Moore ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 668-69 .  

D id lake v .  State , 1 86 Wn . App .  4 1 7 ,  422-23 ,  345 P . 3d 43 (20 1 5) .  Therefore , i n  

order to  estab l ish man ifest error i n  t h i s  matter, Peters must show that the 

harassment statute underlyi ng h is convict ion is unconstitutiona l  either facia l ly or  

as app l ied to h is  case . As d iscussed , i nfra , Peters fa i ls  to estab l ish man ifest 

error under either theory. 

B 

If Peters is assert ing a chal lenge to the harassment statute under which 

he was convicted i n  re l iance on a theory that the statute is facial ly 

unconstitutiona l  under the F i rst Amendment ,  he fa i ls  to estab l ish man ifest error .  

Peters was convicted under RCW 9A.46 . 020 .  It reads ,  i n  pert inent part ,  

( 1 ) A person is gu i lty of harassment if: 
(a) Without lawfu l authority ,  the person knowi ng ly th reatens :  
( i )  To cause bod i ly i nj u ry immed iate ly or  i n  the futu re to the 

person th reatened or to any other person . . .  [and] 
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(b) The person by words or conduct p laces the person 
th reatened in reasonable fear that the th reat wi l l  be carried out .  . . .  

(2) . . .  (b) A person who harasses another is gu i lty of a class 
C fe lony if . .  . 

( i i )  the person harasses another person under subsect ion 
( 1 ) (a)( i )  of th is sect ion by th reaten ing to ki l l  the person th reatened . 

RCW 9A.46 . 020 .  

Our  State Supreme Court has recogn ized that, because the forego ing 

harassment statute crim ina l izes a form of pure speech-threats-it must be 

'" i nterpreted with the commands of the F i rst Amendment clearly i n  m i nd . "'  State 

v. Wi l l iams ,  1 44 Wn .2d 1 97 , 207 , 26 P . 3d 890 (200 1 )  (quoting Watts v .  U n ited 

States, 394 U . S .  705 ,  707 , 89 S. Ct. 1 399 ,  22 L .  Ed . 2d 664 ( 1 969)) . 

Add it iona l ly ,  it is wel l -estab l ished that "true th reats" constitute a form of speech 

that is not p rotected by the F i rst Amendment. See , �. Watts , 394 U .S .  at 708 ; 

Wi l l iams,  1 44 Wn .2d at 207-08 . 

"A true th reat is a ser ious th reat, not one said i n  jest, id le 
ta lk ,  or  pol it ical argument. [State v .  ]Ki l bu rn ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d [36 , ]43[ ,  
84 P . 3d 1 2 1 5  (2004)] (citi ng U n ited States v .  Howe l l ,  7 1 9 F . 2d 
1 258 ,  1 260 (5th C i r. 1 983)) . Stated another way, commun ications 
that 'bear the word i ng of th reats but which are i n  fact merely jokes , 
id le ta lk ,  or  hyperbo le' are not true th reats . State v. Schaler ,  1 69 
Wn .2d 274 ,  283 ,  236 P . 3d 858 (20 1 0) .  The natu re of a th reat 
'depends on a l l  the facts and ci rcumstances , and it is not p roper to 
l im it the i nqu i ry to a l itera l trans lat ion of the words spoken . '  State v .  
C . G . , 1 50 Wn .2d 604 , 6 1 1 ,  80 P . 3d 594 (2003) . Statements may 
'connote someth ing they do not l itera l ly say . . . .  ' P lanned 
Parenthood of Columb ia/Wi l lamette , I nc .  v .  Am . Coal . of Life 
Activists , 290 F . 3d 1 058 ,  1 085 (9th C i r . 2002) . "  

State v .  Kohonen , 1 92 Wn . App .  567 , 576-77 ,  370 P . 3d 1 6  (20 1 6) (a lterat ion i n  

orig ina l )  (q uoti ng State v .  Locke , 1 75 Wn . App .  779 , 790 ,  307  P . 3d 77 1 (20 1 3) ) .  

Accord ing ly ,  i n  order for Peters to  demonstrate man ifest error i n  press ing 

a facia l  cha l lenge to the harassment statute i n  question , he must show that, 
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under the F i rst Amendment ,  '" no set of c i rcumstances exists i n  which the statute , 

as cu rrently written ,  can be constitutiona l ly app l ied . "' D id lake ,  1 86 Wn . App .  at 

423 (quoting Moore ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 669) . 

Peters fa i ls  to estab l ish a man ifest error aris i ng from h is  conviction under 

the harassment statute . Our Supreme Court has i nstructed that a "true th reat" is 

not an essentia l  e lement of that statute but ,  rather , is a defi n it ional  component 

thereof. State v .  France ,  1 80 Wn .2d 809 ,  8 1 8 ,  329 P . 3d 864 (20 1 4) ('"true th reat' 

is not an element of fe lony harassment, " rather , " 'true th reat' defi nes and l im its 

the scope of crim ina l  statutes , such as fe lony harassment, that potent ia l ly 

encroach on p rotected speech" (citi ng State v .  Al len , 1 76 Wn .2d 6 1 1 ,  626 , 294 

P . 3d 679 (20 1 3))) . 

I ndeed , our  Supreme Cou rt has repeated ly confi rmed that the word 

"th reat" i n  the chal lenged statute can be defi ned as on ly app ly ing to "true 

th reats . "  See , §.&., Schaler ,  1 69 Wn .2d at 283-84 (constru i ng "the th reats-to-ki l l  

p rovis ion of RCW 9A.46 . 020" "to reach on ly 'true th reats"') ; Ki l bu rn ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 

4 1  ("U nder the F i rst Amendment on ly a true th reat suffices for a convict ion under 

RCW 9A.46 . 020 . ") ;  Wi l l iams ,  1 44 Wn .2d at 208 ("Wash ington 's  crim ina l  

harassment statute clearly proh ib its true th reats . ") ;  see a lso State v .  Trey M . ,  1 86 

Wn .2d 884 ,  908 ,  383 P . 3d 474 (20 1 6) .  

Fu rthermore ,  although the U n ited States Supreme Court recently clarified 

that a crim ina l  convict ion in a "true th reat" case requ i res proof of a menta l state of 

at least recklessness in order to avoid the crim ina l izat ion of speech protected by 

the F i rst Amendment, Counterman , 600 U . S .  at 72-83 ,  the Court's clarificat ion as 
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to the defi n it ion of "true th reat" does not affect a cou rt's capacity to construe the 

harassment statute as on ly proscrib ing "true th reats . "2 

Thus ,  the harassment statute can be constitutiona l ly app l ied as on ly 

crim ina l iz ing "true th reats . "  Accord i ng ly ,  if Peters is asserti ng that the 

harassment statute under which he was convicted is facia l ly i nva l id , he does not 

estab l ish man ifest error . 

C 

I n  the a lternative , Peters may be assert ing an as-app l ied chal lenge to the 

constitutiona l ity of the harassment statute on the basis that, i n  convict ing him of 

fe lony harassment, the j u ry unconstitutiona l ly app l ied the harassment statute to 

h im .  Because he aga in  fa i ls  to show man ifest error with regard to th is chal lenge , 

th is assert ion fa i ls  as wel l .  

To be  clear, " a  party succeeds i n  an as-app l ied chal lenge by  provi ng that 

an otherwise va l id  statute is unconstitutiona l  as app l ied to that party. " D id lake , 

1 86 Wn . App .  at 423 (citi ng Moore ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 668-69) . Add it iona l ly ,  as set 

forth above , a crim ina l  p rosecution of a "true th reat" case requ i res proof of a 

menta l state of at least recklessness in  the making of the th reat i n  order to avo id 

the F i rst Amendment's bar agai nst crim ina l iz ing protected speech . Counterman , 

2 Because " [t] he  U n ited States Supreme Cou rt is the paramount authority on the federa l  
constitution , "  State v .  Tyler, 1 95 Wn . App. 385,  389 ,  382 P . 3d 699 (20 1 6) ,  aff'd on other grounds ,  
1 9 1 Wn .2d 205 ,  422 P . 3d 436 (20 1 8) , the Court's ho ld i ng  i n  Cou nterman abrogates certa i n  of  our  
Supreme Court's pr ior decis ions to  the extent that they he ld , i n  a "true th reat" crim ina l  
prosecution ,  that  the State must on ly prove a crim ina l  defendant's neg l igence i n  order to not 
crim ina l ize speech protected by the F i rst Amend ment. See , �. Schaler ,  1 69 Wn .2d at 287 .  

I ndeed , as D iv is ion Two of th is cou rt recently stated , although the U n ited States Su preme 
Court's recklessness standard "contrad icts the Wash ington Supreme Cou rt's pre-Counterman 
cases, we do not presume the Wash ington Supreme Court wi l l  now reject a U n ited States 
Supreme Court ho ld i ng  on the federa l  constitution . "  State v. Cal loway, _ Wn . App. 2d _, 550 
P . 3d 77 ,  86 (2024) .  
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600 U . S .  at 72-83 .  Therefore , i n  order to succeed in  an as-appl ied chal lenge , 

Peters must estab l ish that the j u ry convicted h im based on evidence of words or 

conduct that d id  not constitute a true th reat . " In  normal  usage ,  'man ifest' means 

unm istakable ,  evident or  ind isputab le" and '" [a]ffecti ng '  means havi ng an impact 

or  imp ing ing on . "  Lynn ,  67 Wn . App .  at 345 (citi ng State v. Taylor ,  83 Wn .2d 

594 , 596 , 52 1 P . 2d 699 ( 1 974) ) .  

Here ,  Peters was charged with one count of  harassment pu rsuant to RCW 

9A.46 . 020 .  As set forth above , the j u ry in th is matter was instructed as fo l lows : 

I N STRUCTI ON NO .  6 

Th reat means to commun icate , d i rectly or  i nd i rectly, the 
i ntent to cause bod i ly i nj u ry in the futu re to the person th reatened or 
to any other person .  

To b e  a th reat, a statement o r  act must occu r i n  a context or  
under such ci rcumstances where a reasonable person , i n  the 
posit ion of the speaker wou ld foresee that the statement or act 
wou ld be i nterpreted as a serious express ion of i ntent ion to carry 
out the th reat rather than as someth ing said i n  jest, id le ta lk ,  or  
pol it ical argument. In addition, the speaker must know of and 
disregard a substantial risk that the statement or act would be 
interpreted in that way. 

(Emphasis added . )  The j u ry convicted Peters as charged . 

Peters fa i ls  to estab l ish man ifest error. He-correctly-does not 

chal lenge on appeal whether the forego ing i nstruct ion a l ig ned with the Supreme 

Court's gu idance i n  Counterman . 3 I t  p la i n ly does . He also does not present 

3 I ndeed , the instructions g iven i n  Peters' case are nearly identical to those rece ntly 
approved by the Wash ington Pattern I n struction Committee: 

To be a th reat, a statement or act must occur i n  a context or under such 
c ircumstances where a reasonable person ,  i n  the posit ion of the speaker, wou ld  
foresee that the statement or act wou ld be i nterpreted as a serious expression of 
i ntent ion to carry out the th reat rather than as someth ing said in uest or id le  ta l k] 
uest, id le  ta lk ,  or pol it ical argument] .  I n  addition ,  the speaker must know of and 
d isregard a substant ia l  r isk that the statement or act wou ld  be in terpreted i n  that 
manner. 

1 1  



No .  8570 1 - 1 - 1 / 1 2 

evidence that the j u rors ,  i n  convict ing h im of the harassment charge ,  d id not 

fo l low the court's instructions .  Absent any such evidence to the contrary ,  we 

presume that the j u ry d id fo l low its i nstructions .  State v. Montgomery, 1 63 Wn .2d 

577 , 596 , 1 83 P . 3d 267 (2008) (citi ng Ki rkman , 1 59 Wn .2d at 928) . Therefore , 

Peters fa i ls  to make '"a p laus ib le showing . . .  that the asserted error had 

practical and identifiable consequences i n  the tr ial of the case . "' Ki rkman , 1 59 

Wn .2d at 935 ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng WWJ Corp . , 1 38 Wn .2d 

at 603) . 

Thus ,  if Peters is asserti ng that the harassment statute is unconstitutiona l  

as app l ied to h im ,  he does not estab l ish man ifest error i n  support of th is 

assertion .  Accord ing ly ,  u nder either potent ia l  theory, Peters has fa i led to 

preserve h is chal lenge to the constitutional ity of the harassment statute for 

appea l .  We need not fu rther review h is c la im .  

1 1 1  

Peters next asserts that the State fa i led to present a constitutiona l ly 

sufficient quantum of evidence that h is words or conduct constituted a "true 

th reat . "  Th is is so, Peters contends ,  because the record does not conta in  

sufficient evidence for the j u ry to  fi nd that he knew of  and d isregarded a 

substant ia l  r isk that h is  statements and act ions toward Jefferson-Ayosa wou ld be 

i nterpreted as a serious express ion of an i ntent ion to carry out a th reat to ki l l  her .  

Peters' assert ion fa i l s .  

1 1  WASHI NGTON PRACTICE:  WASHI NGTON PATTERN J U RY I NSTRUCTIONS : CRIM INAL 2 .24 ,  a t  4 (5th ed . 
Supp .  2024) .  
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A 

"A chal lenge to the suffic iency of the evidence adm its the truth of the 

State's evidence and al l  reasonable i nferences from that evidence . "  State v .  

Boyle ,  1 83 Wn . App .  1 ,  6-7 , 335 P . 3d 954 (20 1 4) (citi ng State v .  Sa l inas ,  1 1 9 

Wn .2d 1 92 ,  20 1 , 829 P .2d 1 068 ( 1 992) ) .  "We defer to the trier of fact on issues 

of cred ib i l ity or  persuas iveness of the evidence . "  Boyle ,  1 83 Wn . App .  at 7 (citi ng 

State v .  Johnston , 1 56 Wn .2d 355 ,  365-66 , 1 27 P . 3d 707 (2006) ) .  

I n  add it ion to  genera l ly app l icable suffic iency pr inc ip les ,  because of  the 

constitutiona l  imp l icat ions i nherent in our review of a "true th reat , "  we conduct a 

l im ited i ndependent review of the facts crucia l  to the true th reat i nqu i ry .  

Kohonen , 1 92 Wn . App .  at 577 . 

" [T]he F i rst Amendment demands more than app l icat ion of our  
usua l  standard of  review for suffic iency of  the evidence .  Ki l bu rn ,  
1 5 1 Wn .2d at 48-49 .  I nstead , we must i ndependently examine the 
whole record to ensu re that the j udgment does not constitute a 
forb idden i ntrus ion i nto the fie ld of free express ion . Ki l burn ,  1 5 1 
Wn .2d at 50 .  We are requ i red to i ndependently review on ly crucial 
facts , that is ,  those facts so i nterm i ng led with the lega l  question that 
it is necessary to ana lyze them in  order to pass on the 
constitutiona l  question . Ki l bu rn ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 50-5 1 . In do ing so, 
we may review evidence in the record not considered by the lower 
court i n  decid ing  the constitut ional  question . Ki l bu rn ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 
5 1 . However, ou r  review does not extend to factual determ inat ions 
such as witness cred ib i l ity .  State v .  Johnston ,  1 56 Wn .2d 355 , 365-
66 , 1 27 P . 3d 707 (2006) . "  

Kohonen , 1 92 Wn . App .  at 577 (alterat ion i n  orig ina l )  (quoti ng Locke , 1 75 Wn . 

App .  at 790-9 1 ) .  

To support a convict ion for harassment under RCW 9A.46 . 020 ,  the State 

must estab l ish that a th reat to commit bod i ly harm was made .  Because , i n  so 
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requ i ring , the statute crim i na l izes pu re speech , the State must fu rther prove that 

the a l leged th reat was a "true th reat" i n  order to satisfy the p rotect ions of the F i rst 

Amendment. Kohonen ,  1 92 Wn . App .  at 575 (citi ng Ki l bu rn ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 54) . 

Aga i n ,  we have described a "true th reat" i n  general  terms as fo l lows : 

"A true th reat is a serious th reat, not one said i n  jest , i d le 
ta lk ,  or  pol it ical argument. Ki l bu rn ,  1 5 1 Wn .2d at 43 (citi ng U n ited 
States v .  Howe l l ,  7 1 9 F . 2d 1 258 ,  1 260 (5th C i r . 1 983)) . Stated 
another way, commun ications that ' bear the word i ng of th reats but 
which are i n  fact merely jokes , id le ta lk ,  or  hyperbo le' are not true 
th reats . State v .  Schaler ,  1 69 Wn .2d 274 , 283 ,  236 P . 3d 858 
(20 1 0) .  The natu re of a th reat 'depends on a l l  the facts and 
c i rcumstances , and it is not proper to l im it the i nqu i ry to a l itera l 
trans lat ion of the words spoken . '  State v. C .G . , 1 50 Wn .2d 604 ,  
6 1 1 ,  80 P . 3d 594 (2003) . Statements may 'connote someth ing they 
do not l itera l ly say . . .  . '  P lanned Parenthood of 
Columb ia/Wi l lamette , I nc .  v. Am . Coa l .  of Life Activists , 290 F . 3d 
1 058 ,  1 085 (9th C i r. 2002) . "  

Kohonen , 1 92 Wn . App .  at 576-77 (alterat ion i n  orig ina l )  (quoti ng Locke , 1 75 Wn . 

App .  at 790) . 

I n  l i ght of the U n ited States Supreme Court 's decis ion i n  Counterman , "the 

State must prove in true-th reats cases that the defendant had some 

understand ing of h is statements' th reaten ing character . " 600 U . S .  at 72-73 . The 

Court instructed that proof of " recklessness . . .  is enough" to satisfy the 

protect ions of the F i rst Amendment. Counterman , 600 U . S .  at 72-73 .  The court 

defi ned recklessness " [ i ]n the th reats context" as mean ing "that a speaker is 

aware 'that others cou ld regard h is statements as' th reaten ing v io lence and 

'de l ivers them anyway. "' Counterman , 600 U . S .  at 79 (quot ing E lon is v .  U n ited 

States, 575 U . S .  723 ,  746 , 1 35 S. Ct. 200 1 , 1 92 L .  Ed . 2d 1 (20 1 5) (Al ita , J . ,  

concu rri ng i n  part and d issenti ng i n  part)) . 
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B 

Here ,  Peters on ly chal lenges whether a constitutiona l ly sufficient quantum 

of evidence was p resented to the j u ry with regard to the subjective test 

announced in Counterman .  Thus ,  the quest ion before us is whether sufficient 

evidence supports the conc lus ion that Peters knew of and d isregarded a 

substant ia l  r isk that h is words and conduct toward Jefferson-Ayosa wou ld  be 

i nterpreted as a serious express ion of i ntent ion to carry out a th reat to ki l l  her. A 

sufficient quantum of such evidence was adduced . 

1 

Here ,  at tria l , both Jefferson-Ayosa and Peters testified that, five years 

prior to the t ime i n  q uestion , they began a romantic re lationsh ip  with one another. 

About one year later ,  they moved i nto the same household , had a ch i ld  of the i r  

own , and  also ra ised a ch i ld  from a prior re lationsh ip  of Peters ' .  They had  a good 

re lationsh ip in the beg i nn i ng ,  with Jefferson-Ayosa testify ing that Peters was not 

"a lways the best at commun icati ng"  h is  frustrat ions du ring the i r  re lationsh ip .  

They also testified that, sometime between the end  of 2022 and  the 

beg i nn ing of 2023, they ended the i r  comm itted re lationsh ip .4 They conti nued to 

l ive with one another and share resources . Jefferson-Ayosa paid the rent for the 

apartment wh i le Peters paid for other shared amen ities , i ncl ud i ng the i r  ce l l  phone 

service p lan . 

4 Jefferson-Ayosa testified that their  re lationsh i p  ended because of Peters' poor 
commun ication issues. 
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They each testified that, sometime in March 2023, they unsuccessfully 

attempted to reconcile . Peters testified that they ended their relationship again 

on March 24 while Jefferson-Ayosa testified that she did not remember exactly 

when they did so. Peters testified that he ended their relationship because he 

thought that she was acting in a "suspicious" manner in response to him 

searching through her cell phone and finding messages between Jefferson­

Ayosa and one of her former partners, timestamped from when Peters and 

Jefferson-Ayosa had previously ended their relationship a few months prior, 

including a photograph of a pregnancy test. Peters testified that he did not feel  

jealous when he saw either those messages or that photograph. 

They also testified that, on March 24, Peters removed Jefferson-Ayosa as 

a member of his cell service phone plan without notifying her. 

Jefferson-Ayosa testified that, the next day, on March 25, she purchased 

her own cell phone and a service plan for that phone with a new phone number. 

Peters testified that, on that day, he received a text message from Jefferson­

Ayosa from a phone number different than the one she had been previously 

assigned under their shared plan .  

They both testified that, on  the evening of  March 25, Peters was already 

upstairs in their shared apartment at the time that Jefferson-Ayosa arrived with 

the children .  Jefferson-Ayosa left the children downstairs and approached 

Peters who was upstairs in the bedroom. With regard to the layout of the 

apartment in question, its first floor had a living room with a staircase leading up 
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to the second floor and, near the top of the sta irs on its second floor, was a 

bedroom and an adjoining bathroom .  

They both testified that, as Jefferson-Ayosa walked up  the staircase 

towards Peters, he asked her about her new cell phone number. Jefferson­

Ayosa testified that she did not appreciate such questioning and told h im that it 

was none of his business. Jefferson-Ayosa testified that the questioning 

escalated into an argument between the two of them ,  with Peters raising his 

voice and calling her "dumb." Peters, for his part, testified that he asked her 

about her new cell phone number "[c]a lmly," that she had an "attitude" in 

response to his "simple question , "  but that the manner in which she responded to 

him did not cause him to feel frustrated .  

They both testified that they then walked away from one another, with 

Jefferson-Ayosa going into the bathroom and Peters going into the bedroom .  

Jefferson-Ayosa asked Peters to get the children a snack. He  then went 

downstairs and, sometime thereafter, came back upstairs. 

Jefferson-Ayosa testified that, when Peters came upstairs, she heard him 

slamming doors and rustling around in the bedroom closet where they kept, 

among other things, a lockbox conta ining a handgun and ammunition .  She 

testified that she was worried that he was retrieving the handgun that he had 

stored in the lockbox but, she thought, "no, he wouldn't do that." 

Peters testified that, when he came back upstairs, he went into the 

bedroom closet to retrieve his handgun from the lockbox. He testified that he 

was calm and collected after their exchange. He denied slamming doors but 
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testified that he d id shut certa in  doors with heavy m i rrors mounted on them that, 

when closed , made a s lamm ing sound . He testified that ,  once he was in the 

bed room,  he changed into sweatpants and a long s leeve t-sh i rt and opened h is 

fi rearm lockbox i n  the bed room closet. He retrieved from i ns ide the lockbox h is 

p isto l and a magazine conta in ing  twelve bu l lets , i nserted the magazine i nto the 

p isto l ,  and secu red the fi rearm by his lower back by tucki ng it i nto the e lastic 

band of h is sweatpants .  

Peters testified that he changed clothes and retrieved h is fi rearm because 

he "wanted to go out for a walk . "  He testified that, "at that poi nt , I fe lt l i ke I 

needed to process everyth ing from the week before when I went th rough her 

phone and went with the att itude that she shared with me after asking a s imp le 

question . "5 

They both testified that Peters then approached the doorway to the 

bath room where Jefferson-Ayosa was located . Jefferson-Ayosa testified that, as 

Peters approached , they began to argue agai n ,  with Peters te l l i ng her that she 

had an attitude and Jefferson-Ayosa te l l i ng h im that he was the one who started 

the argument by aski ng her about the ce l l  phone .  Peters , for h is  part ,  testified 

that he approached her and asked her to return the ce l l  phone that he had 

previously pu rchased for her and that ,  i n  response to h is request, she began to 

argue with h im .  

5 The fo l lowing exchange also occu rred du ring Peters' cross-examination :  " [Prosecutor] : 
You were so ca lm and co l lected though that you needed to go take a walk  and get some space ; 
is that accu rate? [Peters] : Yes . "  
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Both parties testified that, as he approached the bathroom, Peters was 

concealing from Jefferson-Ayosa what was behind his back. Jefferson-Ayosa 

testified that, when she turned to face Peters, he appeared frustrated,  his hands 

were behind his back, and that she could not see what was behind his back. She 

testified that, in  the conversations earlier that night, his hands had not been 

behind his back. She also testified that she observed that Peters had changed 

his clothing and was wearing jeans, rather than sweatpants, with a sweatshirt 

and shoes. 

Both parties testified that, at that time and during the fo llowing exchange, 

Peters did not tel l  Jefferson-Ayosa that he was planning on going somewhere or 

leaving the apartment. 

Both parties testified that Peters then turned away from Jefferson-Ayosa 

and began to walk to the bedroom. Jefferson-Ayosa testified that, when Peters 

turned away from the bathroom and began walking toward the bedroom ,  he 

walked with his body turned to the side, rather than walking with his back to her. 

She testified that she saw something behind his back that did not look l ike his 

wallet or his phone and she became worried and afraid that it was his handgun.  

Peters, for h is part, testified that h is back was facing her as he walked away. 

Both parties testified that Jefferson-Ayosa asked Peters if he was carrying 

his pisto l .  Peters did not respond to her question and remained silent. Peters 

testified that "I didn't respond because I thought that it might escalate the 

situation more than I wanted it to escalate to." Peters also acknowledged that he 
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knew that, at the time, Jefferson-Ayosa was unarmed and had no way to defend 

herself. 

They both testified that Jefferson-Ayosa repeated the question twice more. 

Peters again did not respond to her questions and instead withdrew to the 

bedroom entryway near the staircase landing, keeping his back facing away from 

her. Jefferson-Ayosa fo llowed h im down the hallway toward both the bedroom 

entrance and the staircase down to the first floor of the apartment. 

They both testified that, when Jefferson-Ayosa was within reaching 

distance of Peters, Jefferson-Ayosa again urged Peters to tell her if he had his 

firearm behind his back, saying, "Is that your fucking gun?" Peters then turned 

his body to the side away from Jefferson-Ayosa , took his handgun out from the 

waistband of his pants, and held the gun in one hand to the side of his body 

away from her. She heard him "cocking the gun" as he pulled back on the slide 

on the top of the firearm , loading a bullet into the gun's chamber with an audible 

click. 

Jefferson-Ayosa testified that, in response to her fourth time urging him to 

tell her whether he had his firearm behind his back, Peters turned toward her, 

"cocked" the firearm not once, but twice , and said, "so what if it is?" Jefferson­

Ayosa testified that, at the moment, she was terrified that Peters was going to 

shoot and kill her or the children. 

Peters, for his part, testified that, after she had repeated her question for 

the fourth time, she observed the firearm in his hand, that he only "cocked" it 
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once ,  and that h e  said noth ing to her ,  i ncl ud i ng n o  words of reassurance .6 He 

testified that he loaded a bu l let i nto the chamber of h is p isto l i n  the entryway to 

the upsta i rs bed room " [t]o prepare myself for the walk  so I d i dn 't have to do it 

when I was outs ide walk ing and came across someth ing th reaten ing"  l i ke " [a] n 

an imal  or  somebody e lse walki ng . "7 He testified that, when he loaded the 

fi rearm , he was not p lann i ng to ki l l  Jefferson-Ayosa , he was not p lann i ng to shoot 

her ,  and he was not i ntend ing to scare her .  

They each testified that ,  immed iate ly after Peters loaded a bu l let i nto the 

chamber of the fi rearm , Jefferson-Ayosa ran down the sta i rs to the i r  ch i l d ren ,  

leavi ng he r  keys and  ce l l  phone upsta i rs ,  to ld the ch i l d ren to get outs ide ,  g rabbed 

a set of spare keys , and qu ickly escorted them out of the apartment with her .  

Jefferson-Ayosa testified that she d id not reca l l  if Peters said anyth ing to her as 

she ran down the sta i rs and screamed at the ch i l d ren to get out of the house.  

She testified that ,  after flee ing the apartment with the ch i l d ren ,  she ca l led 9 1 1 

th rough the ce l l  service on her d ig ita l smart watch and d rove to her mother's 

house.  The audio of her 9 1 1 ca l l  was p layed for the j u ry .  Jefferson-Ayosa 

testified that she was afra id and was phys ica l ly shak ing wh i le maki ng the ca l l .  

Peters , for h is part ,  testified that, after load ing the fi rearm , he "heard her 

pan icking . I heard her go ing down the sta i rs ,  then I p laced the fi rearm back in 

the back of my pants aga in  and I went downsta i rs to the top where she cou ld see 

me and I stated that I was go ing to leave . "  

6 Jefferson-Ayosa testified that she heard h im  attempt to load the gun  twice, the fi rst t ime 
unsuccessfu l ly load ing  a bu l let i nto the chamber and the second t ime successfu l ly doing so. 

7 Both parties testified that Peters d id not po int the g u n  at Jefferson -Ayosa . 

2 1  



No. 85701 -1 -1/22 

Additionally, during Peters' cross-examination, the fo llowing exchange 

occurred: 

Q :  [D]o you agree with this statement, a gun can kill? 
A: Yes. 
Q :  Okay. And you are inside your house and you ready your 

gun;  is that accurate? 
A. Yes. 
Q .  And this is  during an argument with Ms. Jefferson-Ayosa ; 

isn't that right? 
A: Yes, because I thought the argument wasn't going 

anywhere, so, I thought I would leave the argument. 
Q :  So you would agree there was an argument? 
A: There was a conversation. 
Q: Okay. So now it's a conversation. It's not an argument? 

You remember talking to law enforcement, right? 
A: Yes. 
Q :  You told them there was an argument; isn't that right? 
A: I even said that an argument, even if I called it an argument. 

I recall saying that. 

When asked about his desire to take a walk, Peters testified that, despite 

testifying that he lives on a dangerous street with wild animals, he wanted to go 

on a walk. He did not want to find some space in his car. He testified that he 

wanted to , for the first time, take his gun on that walk. He testified that there 

could be a cougar in the area and that he would have attempted to shoot it and 

scare it away. He testified that the fear of a cougar and the danger of his street 

was the reason why he loaded a bullet into the chamber of his gun while inside of 

the apartment. Jefferson-Ayosa , for her part, testified that, in the past, they 

would walk around the neighborhood with their children and she would 

sometimes jog in the neighborhood as wel l .  

Both parties testified that Peters d id not usually use h is firearm , that he 

would not carry it with him when they went out for a walk in the neighborhood or 
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out i n  pub l ic ,  and that he wou ld  not take it with h im when he went out for a walk  

by  h imself. I n  response to  the  q uestion "have you ever fe lt t he  need to  use you r  

gun  for protect ion before th is March 25th i ncident , " Peters responded , "No . "  

2 

Adm itt ing the truth of the State's evidence ,  viewi ng a l l  reasonable 

i nferences from that evidence i n  favor of the verd ict ,  and deferri ng to the j u ry on 

the matter of witness cred ib i l ity , the record conta ins sufficient evidence to support 

that Peters knew of and d isregarded a substant ia l  r isk that h is act ions wou ld be 

i nterpreted as a serious express ion of h is  i ntent ion to carry out a th reat to ki l l  

Jefferson-Ayosa . 8 

The record reflects that, d u ring the five and a ha lf years that they had l ived 

with one another in a comm itted re lationsh ip ,  Peters had rarely, if ever, used h is 

fi rearm or carried it with h im i ndoors or outdoors .  The record fu rther reflects that, 

sometime after they were no longer in a comm itted re lationsh ip  with one another 

and , shortly after getti ng i nto an argument with Jefferson-Ayosa i ns ide the i r  

p reviously shared home ,  Peters i ntentiona l ly took the unusual  step of  retrieving 

h is handgun  from a lockbox i n  the i r  bed room closet , p laci ng a 1 2-bu l let magazine 

i ns ide of the handgun ,  and carry ing the handgun  with h im out of the bed room . 

The record also reflects that, around th is t ime,  he knew that he was 

shutt ing doors with heavy m i rrors mounted on them that, to a nearby l istener ,  

cou ld sound as if a door is being s lammed and that Jefferson-Ayosa was i n  the 

8 We reach the same conclus ion after engag ing  i n  the requ i red l im ited independent 
review of facts pursuant to the true th reat i nqu i ry .  
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nearby bathroom, and he,  regardless, proceeded to shut the doors in the manner 

described. 

The record further reflects that Peters, after retrieving the handgun,  

intentionally placed it behind h is back, approached the bathroom where 

Jefferson-Ayosa was located, and re-initiated their earlier argument. Additionally, 

the record reflects that he was aware that he was concealing the firearm from 

Jefferson-Ayosa , that he heard her repeatedly urging him to tell her whether he 

was concealing his handgun behind his back, and that he was aware that a gun 

is, as a general matter, capable of causing death. Despite al l  of this, he did not 

answer her, nor reassure her, nor communicate his supposed intention to leave 

the apartment to her, any of which might have decreased the risk that his 

conduct would be interpreted by her as a serious threat to her life. 

The record additionally reflects that, despite al l  of this, and while indoors 

on the second floor of their apartment within no more than five feet of Jefferson­

Ayosa , Peters then grabbed his handgun from behind his back, held the gun 

down to his side, slid the rack on the top of the gun back-loading a bullet into its 

chamber with an audible click-and said to her "so what if it is?" 

Given al l  of this, the record amply supports a finding that Peters knew of 

and disregarded a substantial risk that Jefferson-Ayosa would interpret his 

conduct and statement as a serious expression of a threat to kil l her. Therefore, 

Peters' assertion that the jury was not presented with sufficient evidence to find 

that his conduct in this matter constituted a "true threat" fails. 
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Peters does not prevai l  on either of his cla ims on appeal .  Accord ingly, 

Peters has not establ ished an entit lement to appel late rel ief. 

Affirmed. 

WE CONCUR:  
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